FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/25/2018 3:54 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/7/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____

No. 75127-1-I
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
V.
EDDY GONZALES,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Petitioner.

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Petitioner WSBA # 41177

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 6
	THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT. RAP 13.4(b)(1)6
	1. Instructional error denied Mr. Gonzales a fair trial6
	a. The court's instructions to the jury must completely and accurately explain the necessary legal requirements for a conviction
	b. The failure of the court here to timely instruct the jury on separate counts was erroneous
	c. Because the jury was not provided with accurate instructions, reversal was the remedy; review should be granted, as the Court's affirmance was in conflict with this Court's jurisprudence
	Mr. Gonzales's multiple overlapping convictions violate double jeopardy9
	a. The double jeopardy clause prohibits multiple convictions for the same offense
	b. The jury instructions here failed to protect against a double jeopardy violation11

	 The overlap in the instructions and charges violates double jeopardy and requires reversal of one of the two
	convictions
	3. Mr. Gonzales was denied a fair trial due to the court's admission of an unduly prejudicial uncharged allegation16
	4. Mr. Gonzales requests this Court review each issue raised in his Statement of Additional Grounds
F	CONCLUSION 18

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

State v. Becklin, 163 Wn.2d 519, 182 P.3d 944 (2008)
State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 888 P.2d 155 (1995)
State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 39 P.3d 294 (2002) 17
State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 108 P.3d 753 (2005)
State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)
State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011)passim
State v. Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991) 10, 11
State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)
5
State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 162-63, 930 P.2d 917 (1997)
State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 162-63, 930 P.2d 917 (1997)
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007)
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007)
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007)
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007) 17 Washington Court of Appeals State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 198 P.3d 529 (2008) 11, 17 State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. 357, 165 P.3d 417 (2007) passim
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007) 17 Washington Court of Appeals State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 198 P.3d 529 (2008) 11, 17 State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. 357, 165 P.3d 417 (2007) passim State v. Carter, 156 Wn. App. 561, 234 P.3d 275 (2010) 11, 13, 14
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007) 17 Washington Court of Appeals State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 198 P.3d 529 (2008) 11, 17 State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. 357, 165 P.3d 417 (2007) passim State v. Carter, 156 Wn. App. 561, 234 P.3d 275 (2010) 11, 13, 14 State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425, 914 P.2d 788 (1996) 11
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007) 17 Washington Court of Appeals State v. Berg, 147 Wn. App. 923, 198 P.3d 529 (2008) 11, 17 State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. 357, 165 P.3d 417 (2007) passim State v. Carter, 156 Wn. App. 561, 234 P.3d 275 (2010) 11, 13, 14 State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425, 914 P.2d 788 (1996) 11 State v. Hills, 181 Wn. App. 1011 (2014) 9

State v. Ransom, 56 Wn. App. 712, 785 P.2d 469 (1990)			
State v. Williams, 136 Wn. App. 486, 150 P.3d 111 (2007)			
United States Supreme Court			
Alabama v. Smith, 490 U.S. 794, 109 S.Ct. 2201, 104 L.Ed.2d 865 (1989)			
Dowling v. United States, 493 U.S. 342, 110 S.Ct. 668, 107 L.Ed.2d 708 (1990)			
Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976)			
Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991)17			
North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969)			
Article I, § 9			
United States Constitution Fifth Amendment			
Rules GR 14.1(a)			
RAP 13.4(b)(1)			

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Eddy Gonzales, appellant below, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Gonzales appealed his King County Superior Court convictions for one count of child molestation in the first degree and one count of rape of a child in the first degree, as well as one count of tampering with a witness. The Court of Appeals affirmed in a decision that was published in part on December 26, 2017. Appendix. This motion is based upon RAP 13.3(e) and 13.5A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. A jury in a criminal matter must be instructed that where an accused is charged with separate crimes, each count must be decided separately. On the second day of deliberations, the State belatedly requested this instruction, and the trial court gave WPIC 3.01 as a supplemental instruction, over Mr. Gonzales's objection and mistrial motions. Was the jury improperly instructed, and was the Court of Appeals decision therefore in conflict with decisions of this Court, requiring review? RAP 13.4(b)(1)?
- 2. When the State charges identical offenses during the same period of time, separate punishments may not be imposed unless the jury

unambiguously finds separate and distinct conduct. Where the jury was not instructed it needed to find separate and distinct acts, did Mr. Gonzales's multiple convictions for the same conduct violate double jeopardy, and was the Court of Appeals decision therefore in conflict with decisions of this Court, requiring review? RAP 13.4(b)(1)?

- 3. Due process forbids the prosecution from obtaining a conviction based on unfairly prejudicial uncharged allegations. The court admitted an uncharged allegation portraying Mr. Gonzales as having a propensity for engaging in wrongful conduct as "lustful disposition" evidence. Was Mr. Gonzales denied a fair trial due to this improperly admitted uncharged allegation, and was the Court of Appeals decision therefore in conflict with decisions of this Court, requiring review? RAP 13.4(b)(1)?
- 4. Mr. Gonzales requests this Court review the issues raised in his Statement of Additional Grounds, in order to determine whether the Court of Appeals decision was in conflict with decisions of this Court, requiring review of Mr. Gonzales's issues in his S.A.G. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Gonzales incorporates by reference the Statement of Facts from his Opening Brief, at pages 4-11. An abbreviated rendition of facts is included below.

J.G., the complainant below, went to live with Eddy and Terri Gonzales, her paternal grandparents, she was approximately seven years old. RP 1056, 1179-81. This followed the neglect and drug addiction of her own parents. <u>Id</u>.

In November 2013, following a volatile argument with her grandmother concerning J.G.'s stealing, J.G. was grounded and sent to live with her adult older sister. RP 977, 1080. Shortly after this event, J.G. reported that her grandfather, Mr. Gonzales, had been sexually abusing her for the past two years. RP 977-80. After J.G.'s older sister called her mother Terri, they both called the police department. RP 980.

While Terri drove to the family home to confront Mr. Gonzales, officers from the Federal Way Police Department drove to the home, as well, arriving at almost the same moment. RP 1084-86, 1216.

Lieutenant Raymond Bunk later testified at trial that he heard Terri yelling at Mr. Gonzales, who looked down, repeating, "I'm sorry." RP 1086-87, 1217-19. Lieutenant Bunk also spoke to Mr. Gonzales, without advising him of his rights. RP 1222. According to the officer, Mr. Gonzales said he had touched J.G.'s breasts approximately 15 times over a five-year period. RP 1222. He stated that Mr. Gonzales said he was sorry, and that he believed J.G. had "helped" him and that she had liked it. RP 1223-25.

Mr. Gonzales was arrested and charged with two counts of rape of a child in the first degree¹ and one count of child molestation in the first degree. CP 1-7. An additional charge of tampering with a witness was later added, due to letters Mr. Gonzales sent from jail – primarily to Terri – inquiring about the trial and asking whether J.G. might "take the Fifth." CP 50-51; RP 1094-96.

At trial, J.G. testified to various allegations of sexual misconduct, all during the same charging period of January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2012. CP 97. During the trial, J.G. also admitted to impersonating her grandfather on Facebook while Mr. Gonzales was in jail, and engaging in a dialogue with J.G.'s own boyfriend. RP 1443-48. She thus used Mr. Gonzales's profile to create a falsified confession in her grandfather's "voice" to the charged offenses. RP 1443-48.

The jury began deliberations at approximately 10:45 a.m. on January 27, 2016. RP 1712. Jurors deliberated for approximately one day, asking two questions concerning the tampering with a witness count. CP 74-75; 76-77. Both questions were answered on the consent of the parties with "Please refer to your instructions." Id.

¹ The jury acquitted on one count of rape of a child. CP 79.

On the following morning, January 28th, the deputy prosecutor realized the State had neglected to include WPIC 3.01 (separate crimes charged) – in the jury instructions packet. RP 1716; CP 81-112 (Court's Instructions). The State suggested that the jury be given WPIC 3.01 as a supplemental instruction. RP 1716-17. Mr. Gonzales objected, arguing that at this point in the deliberations – the jury had been deliberating for 24 hours – it would cause "irreparable harm" to give such an instruction, only confusing the jury. RP 1717-18. Mr. Gonzales also asked for a mistrial due to the failure to properly instruct the jury. <u>Id</u>. The court denied the mistrial motion and issued a supplemental instruction to the deliberating jury. RP 1725; CP __, sub. no. 112-13 (Instruction No. 24).

Mr. Gonzales was convicted of one count of rape of a child, as well as child molestation and tampering with a witness. RP 1725-28; CP 78-80, 113. Mr. Gonzales appealed, assigning error to the issues raised herein.² On December 26, 2017, the Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Gonzales's convictions and sentence. Appendix.

Mr. Gonzales seeks review in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

² Mr. Gonzales does not seek this Court's review of the community custody issue raised below.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

1. Instructional error denied Mr. Gonzales a fair trial.

a. The court's instructions to the jury must completely and accurately explain the necessary legal requirements for a conviction.

This Court has held that a to-convict instruction serves as a "yardstick" for the jury, and thus, jurors should not be expected to look to other instructions to repair a defective to-convict instruction. *State v. Smith*, 131 Wn.2d 258, 162-63, 930 P.2d 917 (1997). The court's instructions to the jury are the critical vehicle for conveying the elements of a crime to the jury, and thus the court's instructions must be accurate. *State v. Williams*, 136 Wn. App. 486, 493, 150 P.3d 111 (2007).

Trial judges may provide, in response to jury questions, additional instructions on the law. *State v. Becklin*, 163 Wn.2d 519, 529-30, 182 P.3d 944 (2008). This discretion, however, is not unlimited. "[S]upplemental instructions should not go beyond matters that either had been, or could have been, argued to the jury." *State v. Ransom*, 56 Wn. App. 712, 714, 785 P.2d 469 (1990). Supplemental instructions may not add a theory defense counsel had no opportunity to argue. *Id.*; *see also State v. Jasper*, 158 Wn. App. 518, 542-43, 245 P.3d 228 (2010) (trial court could not have

given supplemental instruction addressing new defense theory where parties had no opportunity to address theory in closing), *aff'd*, 174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876 (2012).

b. The failure of the court here to timely instruct the jury on separate counts was erroneous.

Due to the critical omission of the "separate counts" instruction, the instructions here failed to perform their essential function – to accurately inform the jury of the legal requirements for a conviction. The supplemental instruction did not repair the error created by the court's failure to timely instruct the jury of its obligation to consider each count separately. CP __, sub. no. 112-13 (Instruction No. 24). Further, the jury deliberated for an entire day without understanding that they "*must* decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on [any] other count." *Id*.

Mr. Gonzales's case resembles *State v. Hobbs*, where a trial judge re-instructed the jury after deliberations had already begun. 71 Wn. App. 419, 425, 859 P.2d 73 (1993). The Court reversed, because the new instruction had gone "beyond matters that either had been, or could have been, argued to the jury." *Id.* at 424 (quoting *Ransom*, 56 Wn. App. at 714). There is more prejudice to Mr. Gonzales than to Mr. Hobbs, since in *Hobbs*, the defense was permitted to reargue following the supplemental

jury instruction. *Id. at 425* (holding the prejudice to Hobbs remained in the defense's inability "to re-think its cross-examination strategy, a strategy based on the State's earlier error.").

Mr. Gonzales had no opportunity to present additional closing argument based upon full and accurate jury instructions, including the "separate crimes" instruction. *Hobbs*, 71 Wn. App. at 425; *see also State* v. *Hills*, 181 Wn. App. 1011 (2014).³

c. Because the jury was not provided with accurate instructions, reversal was the remedy; review should be granted, as the Court's affirmance was in conflict with this Court's jurisprudence. Error! Bookmark not defined.

Because the jury was not provided with accurate instructions during its entire deliberations, and because the supplemental instructions prejudiced Mr. Gonzales, the trial court should have declared a mistrial, as Mr. Gonzales requested. *Hobbs*, 71 Wn. App. at 425.

The better remedy is to declare a mistrial and to allow the case to be tried anew before a jury which is properly instructed in the first instance and at a trial where the defense theory of the case may be planned and executed with the correct law of the case in mind.

Id.

Because mistrial was not granted by the trial court when requested, the Court of Appeals should have reversed, to permit a new

³ Citation to this case is pursuant to GR 14.1(a).

trial before a jury properly instructed. Ransom, 56 Wn. App. at 714.

- 2. Mr. Gonzales's multiple overlapping convictions violate double jeopardy.
 - a. The double jeopardy clause prohibits multiple convictions for the same offense.

The constitutional protection against double jeopardy prohibits multiple punishments for the same offense. *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 726, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969), *overruled on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith*, 490 U.S. 794, 109 S. Ct. 2201, 104 L. Ed. 2d 865 (1989); *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. 5; Const. art I, § 9.

If a person is convicted of multiples offenses for the same conduct, the multiple convictions violate the right to be free from double jeopardy. *See State v. Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d 765, 777, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). The double jeopardy clause bars multiple convictions arising out of the same act even if concurrent sentences have been imposed. *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 775, 888 P.2d 155 (1995).

To prevent such multiple convictions from violating double jeopardy, the jury must unanimously agree that at least one separate act constitutes each charged offense. *State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 842-43, 809 P.2d 190 (1991); *State v. Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. 357, 367,

165 P.3d 417 (2007). "[I]n sexual abuse cases where multiple counts are alleged to have occurred within the same charging period, the trial court must instruct the jury 'that they are to find "separate and distinct acts" for each count." *Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. at 367 (quoting *State v. Hayes*, 81 Wn. App. 425, 431, 914 P.2d 788 (1996); *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 848-49)).

The court's instructions must clearly inform the jury that each crime requires proof of a different act. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 663 (citing *Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. at 367. The jury must be provided with "sufficiently distinctive 'to convict' instructions or an instruction that each count must be based on a separate and distinct criminal act." *Id.* at 662 (citing *State v. Carter*, 156 Wn. App. 561, 567, 234 P.3d 275 (2010); *State v. Berg*, 147 Wn. App. 923, 934-35, 198 P.3d 529 (2008)).

Where the jury is not instructed to find each count is a separate and distinct act from all other counts, double jeopardy may be violated. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 662-63; *Carter*, 156 Wn. App. at 568 (reversing three counts of rape in same charging period due to lack of "separate and distinct" jury finding); *Berg*, 147 Wn. App. at 934-37 (same holding for two counts of rape); *Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. at 370-71

(same holding for multiple counts of rape of a child in same charging period but only one "to convict" instruction); *State v. Holland*, 77 Wn. App. 420, 425, 891 P.2d 49 (1995) (reversing convictions for two counts of child molestation where it was impossible to conclude that all twelve jurors agreed on same act to support convictions on each count).

In the absence of proper jury instructions, reversal is required unless it is "manifestly apparent" that the conviction for each count was based on a separate act. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 664. Review is "rigorous" and it will be "a rare circumstance" where the appellate court should affirm despite deficient jury instructions. *Id.* at 664-65.

b. The jury instructions here failed to protect against a double jeopardy violation.

The jury instructions here were similar to those ruled inadequate in *Mutch*, *Carter*, and *Borsheim*. Mr. Gonzales was charged with two counts of the same offense (rape of a child in the first degree) during the same charging period, as well as one count of child molestation during the same charging period. CP 50-51. The jury was not instructed it must find that Count Three (child molestation) must rest on a separate and distinct act from Counts One and Two. *Compare* CP 97, 100 ("separate and distinct" language in rape to-convicts) *to* CP 105 (no "separate and distinct" language in molestation to-convict).

Due to the overlapping nature of the charging periods and offenses, the jury may well have convicted Mr. Gonzales of the remaining rape charge (Count One) and child molestation, based on a single act, in violation of double jeopardy.

First, as discussed, the jury was not timely instructed that a separate crime is charged in each count, and that they are to decide each count separately – WPIC 3.01 – until they had been deliberating for 24 hours. RP 1716-17. This untimely supplemental instruction does not cure the double jeopardy violation. *See infra*, Sec. 2. This same "separate crime" instruction was provided to the juries in *Mutch*, *Carter* and *Borsheim*. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 662-63; *Carter*, 156 Wn. App. at 564-65 & n.4; *Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. at 364. In each of these cases, the court found this "separate crime" instruction was inadequate to cure the potential double jeopardy violation, because it does not explain the underlying conduct must be different. And importantly, in each of these cases, the "separate crime" instruction had been administered to the jury in a timely manner, before deliberations had commenced.

Here, the court's instructions did include a unanimity instruction, which told the jurors "one particular act" must be proven

beyond a reasonable doubt and "you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved." CP 99, 104 (Instructions No. 14, 18). But this instruction does not direct jurors to base each verdict on separate and distinct acts. *Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. at 366 & n.2. A similar instruction was provided to the juries in *Mutch*, *Carter* and *Borsheim*, but the courts still ruled it inadequate to avoid a double jeopardy violation. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 663; *Carter*, 156 Wn. App. at 564 & n.3; *Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. at 364.

In *Carter*, for example, the complainant testified she was raped 40 to 50 times over a certain time period and Carter was charged with four counts of rape of a child. 156 Wn. App. at 562. The court gave a unanimity instruction but no instruction on the requirement of separate and distinct acts. This Court held that the instructions "exposed Carter to the possibility of multiple convictions for the same criminal act. Thus, we remand with instructions to dismiss three of the four child rape counts." *Id.* at 568.

A similar omission occurred here. No instruction informed the jury that a separate and distinct act must be found for the molestation count, as different from the rape of a child count, despite their identical

charging periods. The flawed instructions exposed Mr. Gonzales to multiple convictions for the same acts.

c. The overlap in the instructions and charges violates double jeopardy and requires reversal of one of the two convictions.

In *Mutch*, the Court explained that it strictly requires jurors to predicate their verdicts on separate acts. 171 Wn.2d at 665. Manifestly apparent jury instructions directing verdicts based on separate and distinct acts must be provided. *Id.* If not, it will be only the rare case where the record sufficiently shows the jurors premised their verdicts on separate and distinct acts beyond a reasonable doubt. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 664-65 & n.6.

This "rare" circumstance occurred in *Mutch* due to the clarity of the specific offenses charged and absence of any challenge to each act's occurrence by the defense. *Id.* at 665. Mutch was accused of five distinct acts of rape during one episode. *Id.* The defense agreed each act occurred but argued the complainant consented. *Id.* The *Mutch* verdict unmistakably reflected five separate and distinct offenses. *Id.*

Unlike *Mutch*, the complainant here had an indistinct memory and gave ambiguous evidence about the timing and details of the

allegations. J.G. admitted she was "bad at dates," and that she never told anyone about her allegations until years later. RP 1460.4

Lastly, the prosecutor here emphasized in closing argument that the jury need not identify or agree on any particular incident or act in order to convict: "[Y]ou have multiple incidents for which to find him guilty, you have a lot to work with, and you have literally, as [J.G.] said, dozens of instances for [sic] which to base your verdicts." RP 1670. In this way, the prosecutor's argument highlighted the flaw in the court's instructions. The jury had numerous acts before it that could constitute the factual predicate for child molestation, and yet it was never instructed that it must unanimously agree upon the proof of a certain act of child molestation, distinct from an act used as the basis of a verdict in rape of a child (Count 1).

The instructions here did not make it manifestly apparent that separate and distinct acts of sexual intercourse or sexual molestation had to form the basis of a guilty verdict on each count. The instructions

⁴ J.G. also conceded that she leveraged her claims in the household, threatening her grandfather in order to get privileges, rather than actually tell anyone in order to get assistance. RP 1338 (school friend who had allegedly been told was never located by police); RP 1461-64.

did not require this determination, and the evidence was both vague and disputed. This is not the "rare circumstance" presented in *Mutch*.

Mr. Gonzales's right to be free from double jeopardy was violated. A double jeopardy violation results in the dismissal of any conviction that violates the constitution. *See State v. Womac*, 160 Wn.2d 643, 660, 160 P.3d 40 (2007). The failure to ensure the verdict in Count Three rests on unanimous agreement as to an act separate from the basis for Count One requires reversal with an order to vacate the molestation conviction. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 657; *Berg*, 147 Wn. App. at 935; *Borsheim*, 140 Wn. App. at 371.

Therefore, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

3. Mr. Gonzales was denied a fair trial due to the court's erroneous admission of an unduly prejudicial uncharged allegation.

Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process when they deprive an accused person of a fundamentally fair trial. *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 75, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991); *Dowling v. United States*, 493 U.S. 342, 352, 110 S.Ct. 668, 107 L.Ed. 2d 708 (1990) (introduction of improper evidence deprives a defendant of due process where "the evidence is so extremely unfair that its admission violates fundamental conceptions of justice").

"ER 404(b) is a categorical bar to admission of evidence [of a prior bad act] for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character." *State v. Gresham,* 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012) (citing *State v. Saltarelli,* 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)). Allegations that an accused person committed uncharged misconduct, or is a bad person, are presumed inadmissible. *State v. Everybodytalksabout,* 145 Wn.2d 456, 465-68, 39 P.3d 294 (2002).

Mr. Gonzales moved to exclude testimony about uncharged bad acts or wrongful conduct under ER 404(b) and ER 403. CP 29-49; RP 337, 340-42. Here, the evidence that J.G. allegedly saw Mr. Gonzales masturbating in his own bedroom while folding the laundry, behind a closed door, was of questionable relevance and had the potential for undue prejudice. RP 337, 340-42 (J.G. alleged the laundry contained her bra, although this particular item was not in evidence).

Because the purported justification for the admission of socalled "lustful disposition" evidence amounts to propensity evidence, and its prejudicial effect far outweighs the probative value, the court improperly admitted this prior act evidence. Evidence of "lustful disposition" is character evidence, showing the defendant acted in conformity with behavior on other occasions. This evidence falls squarely within the "categorical bar" that *Gresham* identified. 173 Wn.2d at 420 Subsequent acts are particularly tenuous indications of a person's intent or desire at an earlier point in time. Because this evidence should have been excluded as highly prejudicial, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

4. Mr. Gonzales requests this Court review each issue raised in his Statement of Additional Grounds.

Mr. Gonzales requests that this Court review each and every issue raised in his pro se Statement of Additional Grounds.

F. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed, as it is in conflict with decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).