FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/8/2018 3:13 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95482-8 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 75127-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
EDDY GONZALES,
Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The State asks this Court to deny the petition for review. If this Court accepts review, the State seeks cross-review of the court of appeals' conclusion that the jury instructions, which did not inform the jury that an act of child molestation had to be separate and distinct from an act of child rape, created a potential double jeopardy violation.

D. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Eddy Gonzales was convicted of one count of child rape (count one), one count of child molestation (count three), and witness tampering (count four). CP 78, 80, 113. The jury acquitted Gonzales of a second count of child rape (count two). CP 79. The relevant facts are set forth in the State's briefing before the court of appeals. Brief of Respondent at 3-4.

The court of appeals affirmed the convictions in a unanimous opinion, published with the exception of the court's resolution of

Gonzales's statement of additional grounds. <u>State v. Gonzales</u>, No. 75127-1-I (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2018).

E. ARGUMENT

For the reasons outlined below, this Court should reject Gonzales's petition for review. If the court accepts review, the State requests that the court also accept review of the court of appeals' erroneous conclusion that the jury instructions created the potential for a double jeopardy violation. RAP 13.4(d).

1. THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) governs consideration of a petition for review. It provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The State's briefing in the court of appeals adequately addressed the substantive issues raised by Gonzales. Gonzales fails to meaningfully explain how the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) warrant a grant of review.

Because Gonzales has failed to establish that the court of appeals' decision conflicts with any decision of this Court, and has failed to establish any other reason warranting review, his petition should be denied. RAP 13.4(b).

2. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS DID NOT CREATE A POTENTIAL DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION.

The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, the Court should also grant review of the lower court's conclusion that a "separate and distinct acts" instruction was required for the child-molestation and child-rape counts. Those crimes are not identical offenses, especially given the way the jury was instructed in this case. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b). This argument is summarized below and is set forth more fully in the briefing in the court of appeals.

Gonzales presumes that child molestation and child rape are identical offenses for purposes of double jeopardy, although he cited no authority for that assertion in the court of appeals nor does he cite any in this petition. Although Gonzales has never referenced it, the State pointed out, and the court of appeals recognized, that the

State v. Land¹ decision held that when a charge of child rape is based on evidence of sexual intercourse in the form of oral-genital contact rather than penetration, then the molestation and rape are identical offenses for double jeopardy purposes. Gonzales, Slip Op. at 5.

Based entirely on Land, the court of appeals here concluded that because the jury was not instructed that an act of molestation must be separate and distinct from an act of rape, there was the potential for a double jeopardy violation. Id. If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of that conclusion. RAP 13.4(d).

Land was incorrectly decided, and the court of appeals erred in relying on it. First, child molestation and child rape are not identical offenses for purposes of double jeopardy. Further, the jury instructions here were clear that the child molestation and child rape were based on separate acts. The lack of a specific "separate and distinct acts" instruction did not create the potential for double jeopardy in this case.

A defendant's conduct may violate more than one criminal statute, and double jeopardy is implicated only when the court exceeds its legislative authority by imposing multiple punishments where multiple punishments are not authorized. <u>State v. Calle</u>, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776, 888 P.2d 155 (1995). The question of whether

¹ 172 Wn. App. 593, 295 P.3d 782 (2013).

multiple punishments are authorized is ultimately a question of the legislature's intent. <u>State v. Kelley</u>, 168 Wn.2d 72, 77, 226 P.3d 773 (2010).

To determine legislative intent, courts consider the "same evidence" test, which asks whether the crimes are the same in both law and in fact. State v. Louis, 155 Wn.2d 563, 569, 120 P.3d 936 (2005). If each offense contains an element not included in the other, then the offenses are not the same in law and multiple convictions are permissible. Id. Only clear evidence of contrary legislative intent can override the results of the same evidence test. Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 780.

Child rape requires sexual intercourse, while child molestation requires sexual contact. State v. Jones, 71 Wn. App. 798, 824-26, 863 P.2d 85 (1993). Although sexual intercourse can be accomplished by oral/genital sexual contact, the definition of sexual contact that applies to child molestation does *not* apply to sexual intercourse as it is defined for child rape. State v. Gurrola, 69 Wn. App. 152, 157, 848 P.2d 199 (1993). Applying the statutory definition of "sexual contact" to child rape cases would eliminate any distinction between rape of a child and molestation of a child when the contact was oral/genital — a result clearly contrary to legislative intent. Id.; See also State v. Brown, 78 Wn. App. 891, 895-96, 899 P.2d 34

(1995) (due to the improbability of inadvertent oral/genital contact, legislature did not intend statutory definition of "sexual contact," which includes sexual gratification requirement, to apply to rape cases).

In <u>Land</u>, the court of appeals did not mention either <u>Gurrola</u> and <u>Brown</u>, concluding instead that when a defendant is charged with both molestation and rape, the statutory definition of sexual contact applies to the statutory definition of sexual intercourse, thereby rendering the offenses "identical" for double jeopardy. <u>Land</u>, 172 Wn. App. at 600. But as correctly held in <u>Gurrola</u> and <u>Brown</u>, the statutory definition of sexual contact does not apply to the statutory definition of sexual intercourse; <u>Land</u> was wrongly decided.

Regardless, here the jury was specifically instructed that the definition of sexual contact applied *only* to the child molestation count — "For the purposes of Count Three, sexual contact means . . ." CP 103. And the prosecutor specifically told the jury during his closing argument that the instruction defining sexual contact did *not* apply to the child rape counts:

But now that we're talking about child molestation, how is this different from counts I and II? This doesn't require sexual intercourse or penetration or anything like that. It requires sexual contact, and the testimony that you have here, there is a number of things that you have to work with. And one count of child molestation is at issue here and is before the jury for consideration. But [J.G.] testified about a number of things that would constitute sexual contact.

So let's look at the definition of sexual contact. And, again, this only applies to Count III and this is important because the term sexual contact appears in the definition of sexual intercourse, but only as to Counts I and II. So you're to use this instruction as the Court says only as to Count III. Because we know that for Rape of a Child, a penis going in somebody's mouth or a tongue being on somebody's vagina, that is sexual contact.

But what about all the other stuff that [J.G.] described. What about the touching of the breasts. What about the reaching down the pants. What about the defendant placing his penis in her hand while she was sleeping out in the living room. Those are all instances of sexual contact because it's any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desires of either party or a third party. That's the definition of sexual contact.

RP 1668-69. The jury was instructed that the crimes had different elements, and no specific "separate and distinct acts" instruction was required.

In sum, child molestation and child rape have different elements and are not the same offenses for double jeopardy. The court of appeals here erred when it concluded that the trial court was required to provide a "separate and distinct acts" instruction as to the child rape counts and child molestation count in this case.

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the State seeks cross review of the issue in Section 2 above.